
1 
 

PENSIONS, BENEFITS AND SOCIAL SECURITY SECTION (PBSS) 
 

Minutes of the 29th Board Meeting of the PBSS Section  
held on Thursday 29, November 2018 from 12:30 to 14:30 hrs  

at the Mexico Sheraton Maria Isabel Hotel, Mexico City 
 

Contents 
1. Welcome and Apologies .................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Agenda ............................................................................................................................................... 2 

3. Report from the organiser of the 2020 Colloquium to be held in Paris ............................................. 2 

4. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Berlin ............................................................... 3 

5. Confirmation of the minutes of the last AGM held in Berlin ............................................................ 3 

6. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section & PEBC ......................................................... 3 
6.1 IAA restructuring ................................................................................................................. 3 
6.2 Approach with Health Section ............................................................................................. 5 

7. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee ................................................................ 5 

8. Work plan 2019 and after ................................................................................................................... 6 
8.1. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Cape Town in 2019 ...................................................... 6 
8.2. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Paris in 2020 ................................................................. 6 
8.3. Organise a joint colloquium with ISSA on 2021 ...................................................................... 6 
8.4. Planning for 2022 ICA in Sydney ............................................................................................. 6 
8.5. Hold 6 webinars per calendar year ............................................................................................ 6 
8.6. Maintain Reference List on the web, at least 6 new posts per year .......................................... 6 
8.7. Maintain Virtual Library ........................................................................................................... 6 
8.8. Give bursaries to next year's colloquia speakers ....................................................................... 6 
8.9. Select next year's colloquia Best Prize(s) ................................................................................. 7 
8.10. Support the publication of the ASTIN bulletin and encourage members to contribute papers

 7 
8.11. Maintain relation with several supranational organisations .................................................... 7 
8.12. Communication and expanding membership .......................................................................... 7 
8.13. PBSS website .......................................................................................................................... 7 
8.14. Publish PBSS bi-annually newsletters .................................................................................... 7 
8.15. PBSS presentation on Social Security Reform ....................................................................... 7 
8.16. Section Ambassadors to FMAs ............................................................................................... 7 

9. Finance Report ................................................................................................................................... 8 

10. Membership and constitution ............................................................................................................. 8 

11. Section’s succession mechanism discussion ...................................................................................... 8 

12. Any other Business ............................................................................................................................ 8 

13. Next meeting ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

14. Close ................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Attendance Register ................................................................................................................................. 9 

 



2 
 

 

1. Welcome and Apologies 
The Chair (Abraham Hernández Pacheco) welcomed everybody to the meeting. Twelve PBSS Committee 
members attended the meeting (including participation on the phone, see the table on page 9). No 
apologies were received. Abe reported that he invited Mr. Charles Cowling (IAA Executive Committee 
member), Mr. Alejandro Bonilla-García, Mr. Hector Islas Teran, Ms. Alejandra Moreno Carrales, Ms. 
Fernanda Salas Avendaño. Abe explained that Hector, Alejandra and Fernanda are all belonging to the 
Mexican Actuarial Association (Colegio Nacional de Actuarios A.C.) and had been helping the Chair with 
many items. Ms. Carol Ann Banks, a staff member of the IAA secretariat, also attended the meeting. 

2. Agenda 
Abe briefly discussed the agenda of the Board meeting, and the item: “Report from the organiser of the 
2020 IAA Colloquium to be held in Paris” was added. 

3. Report from the organiser of the 2020 Colloquium to be held in Paris 
Abe invited Mr. Thomas Béhar, a French actuary, to make presentation on the status of preparation for the 
2020 IAA Colloquium to be held in Paris. Thomas explained largely as follows: 

The 2020 IAA Colloquium will be held from 10th to 14th of May, 2020, just after the Brussels IAA meeting. 
The Brussels meeting will be held from 7th to 9th of May according to the traditional settings and we begin 
the Colloquium from 10th of May in Paris. It only takes one or one and a half hour by plane from Brussels 
to Paris. We did not choose a hotel as the site of the Colloquium because there had been a difficulty with 
regard to the price of the hotel. We chose another premise which is a former stock exchange in Paris, Palais 
Brongniart, located in Bourse. It is in the centre of Paris near l’Opera Garnier and we can get management 
of the hotels of different kinds. We will reserve a lot of rooms in advance. There is an eight hundred square 
meters place for plenary sessions and by dividing it by two we have a 600 square meters place in the main 
and another place for broadcasting. We are able to have eight meeting rooms for parallel sessions.  

At this stage we have set up an organising committee. Next step is setting up a scientific committee with 
one sub-committee for every section. People from each section board will be present in the scientific 
subcommittee. They will work together to select the topics and the papers to be presented.  

For the first day of the Colloquium (10th of May), we have section board meetings in the afternoon and a 
cocktail reception at the end of the day. On Monday, we have very specific plenary session and three time 
slots of parallel sessions. We have up to eight meeting rooms, which means that we have up to 24 slots for 
presenting papers and workshops. On Tuesday, we are organising a Congress of French Actuarial Society 
in parallel to the Colloquium. This is because the people for the Colloquium reward for tourism in the 
afternoon. We have social activities in the afternoon. There will be the plenary session of the Congress in 
Tuesday afternoon. Then, people who like to speak French and not want to go around Paris can stay and 
participate in the French Congress. We have the gala dinner at the end of Tuesday. The gala dinner is also 
open for French people who come for the Congress.  

On Wednesday, we have parallel sessions during the day and the annual general meeting of each section 
at the end of the day. We have up to 40 parallel sessions (5 time slots x 8 meeting rooms) during the day. 
On Thursday, we will have a plenary session at the beginning and parallel sessions with 4 time slots.  

Lastly, he projected a movie with duration of about 1 minute promoting the Colloquium. Abe suggested 
Thomas to consider Mr. Pablo Antolin of OECD as one of key note speakers at some point of the Colloquium. 
Ms. Barbara D’Ambrogi-Ora recalled that we had met Pablo at the Colloquium held in Helsinki, adding that 
he had made a presentation with a paper and at that time nobody had known him at all. Abe said that he 
had attended the World Pensions Summit held in Hague from October 31 to November 2 of 2018. He said 
that it had been a very good event with very large audience from the field of pensions mainly of Europe. Mr. 
Douglas Caray agreed. Abe added that we had an agreement with the WPS that in exchange of our 



3 
 

mentioning the WPS events in the Newsletters or the Reference Lists, it would offer us a ticket or reduction 
of the entrance fee of the WPS events. Then, Abe suggested to utilize the WPS for marketing the 2020 
Colloquium in exchange of mentioning it as a sponsor of the Colloquium, because it is a very good 
organisation and has a large database of people in the field of pensions.  

Abe added that we were not very good at marketing the colloquia and needed to make a special effort for 
doing a good marketing campaign to attract large number of the members of the PBSS Section.  

4. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Berlin 
The draft minutes of the 30th PBSS Committee Meeting held in Berlin was approved without change.  

5. Confirmation of the minutes of the last AGM held in Berlin 
The draft minutes of the PBSS Annual General Meeting held in Berlin was confirmed without change. Abe 
said that it had been a good experience for us because very good quantity of people had attended the AGM 
in Berlin.  

6. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section & PEBC 
6.1 IAA restructuring  

Abe said that there had been a “town-hall meeting” held on that Wednesday 29, November 2018. He 
explained that several FMAs were saying that the structure of IAA is too complex and there are too many 
entities like committees, sub-committees, working groups, task forces, etc. and it would have been difficult 
for a FMA to join all the meetings of its interests in one IAA meeting. Abe continued that all entities of IAA 
should be focused on the strategic objectives of IAA, whereas the sections are another thing because they 
are based on individual actuaries. Abe continued that there was lacks of communications among those IAA 
entities and sometimes same things had been considered in different entities without enough 
communication. Abe explained that the idea of the “town-hall meeting” was something should be done 
about those concerns. Then, Abe invited Mr. Charles Cowling to explain.    

Charles explained largely as follows: 
IAA has three main functions, namely, ‘influence,’ ‘promote profession’ and ‘advance’ functions. Now we 
have had both the committees and the sections, for instance the Pensions and Employee Benefits 
Committee (PEBC), the Social Security Committee (SSC) and the PBSS Section. There is a subtle or 
fundamental difference between the committees and the sections. The works being done in the PBSS come 
from bubbling up from individual actuaries, while generating ideas or papers done in the committees tend 
to be those come from top-down. I think there are significant areas to be tackled together.  

What we discussed in the town-hall meeting was creation of communities and one of those communities 
would be a community of pensions, employees’ benefits and social security, which would be focused 
around the work of the PBSS Section but also bring in the PEBC and the SSC. We discussed that there would 
be some better way of linking more directly the works of the PEBC and the SSC with those of the PBSS. 
Both committees could come to the PBSS, because these are the areas those committees want to develop 
with the PBSS. Then those committees would be able to get access to all scientific experts in those areas. 
Then the question would be whether the committees are able to work with the sections on a particular 
project. 

So the idea is that the EC will encourage the committees to work with the sections on the ‘advance’ 
function of IAA. More specifically, the EC would potentially encourage the PEBC and the SSC to meet with 
the PBSS Board, possibly even as a test run, in Cape Town rather than in Washington D.C. This is the idea 
to use the PBSS colloquium to have joint meetings of the PEBC, the SSC and the PBSS. That would create 
an opportunity for the members of the PEBC and the SSC to participate in the colloquium and hopefully 
spread the membership of the PBSS more widely and more generically across the whole of those who come 
to the IAA meetings.  



4 
 

I am looking for reaction on how we might do that. This is clearly a challenge to the governance, because 
the PBSS Board members are member-elected, while the members of the PEBC and the SSC are 
representing the member FMAs. But actually a lot of things in the agenda of the PBSS Board meetings are 
very similar to those of the meetings of the PBEC and the SSC, so by meeting together it would be able to 
share the ideas and the thoughts. At the moment the EC is gathering ideas and seeking feedbacks widely. 
At the moment, doing two or three joint meetings in Cape Town is just a possible proposal.  

Both the PEBC and the SSC leadership have met difficulties in finding volunteers for specific projects. Both 
committees would have potentially much bigger team of people to help their projects.  

Abe said that one thing that we needed to consider would be the governance issue. He explained that people 
who were writing a paper and making a presentation at the colloquia would do the work for his/her personal 
gain, for instance, obtaining the credit for publishing the paper, obtaining tenure through the publishing, 
showing what he/she had achieved, getting personal networks or being hired by another company, etc. Abe 
continued that they had a specific incentive to do it and added that of course we should be careful to keep 
the work unbiased, but joining in a committee’s project would help the person to enhance his/her personal 
achievements and it would also help the IAA.  

Barbara pointed out that the members of the IAA committees are elected from the FMAs and they 
participate in the committee meetings representing the FMA. Barbara continued that when the SSC had 
done something really sensible, it had been very difficult to put together the 50 FMAs. She said that although 
the idea proposed by Charles might be a good, she had no idea on how to deal with that difficulty. She added 
that she could not go anymore in such a way that a committee would have been given a task from the EC 
and carried out the task, then the EC was not ready to accept the papers produced by the committee.  

Charles answered that the EC had been already struggling with the papers written by the committees. He 
said that the EC was not saying that the paper had been hijacked but tended to represent some individual’s 
opinions in a way that the IAA would be nervous about the paper’s being presented as the IAA opinion. 
Charles continued that the point Barbara had highlighted would have become more difficult if we had done 
the task through the PBSS route. He said that the SSC had written an excellent paper on adequacy and he 
would not think that it was beyond the EC’s abilities to commission a committee to work on the issues like 
adequacy in the field of social security.  

Abe said that on the other side, it would be great for an academic to have access to members of the IAA 
committees. Charles answered that he had understood the problem, but it would not be a blockage to work 
together. Barbara said that when the first paper would arrive at the EC, the committee had already accepted 
it and was saying that it was a great paper. She continued that the publishing policy of the EC would not be 
something to be resolved by putting together the sections and the committees. Charles agreed.  

Abe said we should start trying to work more closely. He continued that an example would be webinars and 
we had invited the members of the PEBC to join the webinar, even if they were not the members of PBSS. 
He said that if the speaker of the webinar were from Canada, then we would go to the Canadian Institute of 
Actuaries and invite the members of the CIA to join the webinar. He added that some of them might say 
that they had not known the PBSS Section and they would join.  

Mr. Yasuyuki Fujii commented that there might be some difficulties to invite for instance the members of 
the CIA to the PBSS webinar, because inviting all the members of the CIA to the webinar for free would be 
inconsistent to the fact that PBSS members were paying the membership fee of PBSS by themselves. Abe 
answered that it would be a kind of marketing or promotion. Yas said just inviting the members of the PEBC 
to the PBSS webinar, then he/she was invited to the webinar just because he/she was a member of the PEBC, 
while all other members of the FMA of which he/she was representing were not invited. Yas said that he 
could not understand what it meant. Abe mentioned the reality that we had had very few people logging in 
the webinar and said that it would serve to let people know what we were doing and get more members.  

Yas raised another example that the PEBC and the Insurance Accounting Committee had held a joint meeting, 
but the reality had been just reporting the activities of each committee and there had been no exchange of 
comments. Yas said that he was afraid of such a situation might happen. Charles said that when we tried to 
pull in people together, we had to have an agenda giving people the option to participate at least half of the 



5 
 

meeting. Then Charles expressed his appreciation to be given the opportunity to explain the thoughts of the 
EC and left the meeting, asking feedbacks and comments.  

6.2 Approach with Health Section  
Abe said that when one of the objectives was less entities and less complexities in the community of 
pensions and social security, why we should not consider the Health Section. He reported that he had been 
approached by Mr. Adrian Daryl Baskir. Abe reported that Baskir had mentioned the idea of first working 
together before considering merging the two sections. Abe continued that they had discussed pros and cons 
of the idea and agreed on the recognition of letting them work together. Abe said that the Health Section 
was very good at organising webinars and we might be able to get something if we worked together with 
the Health Section. Then, Abe asked comments of the Board members. 

Mr. Carl Hansen said that both sections might have some same issues and it might be helpful to have a 
commentary of breakout session between the two boards. Barbara asked how many members were 
overlapped between the two sections. Abe answered that there might be some overlaps, but it would not 
be so many.  

Abe reported that there was a discussion at the section chairs’ meeting on the idea of having people join 
the sections, instead of individual sections. Abe raised the instance that especially younger actuaries, who 
are working in the field of life insurance, might still be interested in general insurance. Abe explained that 
the idea had pros and cons, for instance we might lose some of the revenues because some people had 
already paying in two or three sections. Abe continued that however it would not be the point of the 
discussion and the point is what would be the best way to do to attract more members of the FMAs to the 
sections and we should look at any possibilities.  

Carl said that some members of the Health Section might be in the field of general insurance and others in 
the field of social security. Barbara asked whether we would have any problems from the fact that section 
members were not required to be a fully qualified member of a FMA, if we eventually merge and work 
together at some point. Abe answered that he was not aware of that. In the case of the PBSS Section, 
ordinary members need to be a qualified member of some FMA, whereas non-ordinary members need not 
to be an actuary, although they do not have the right to vote. Abe added that we have given event prizes 
also to non-actuaries.  
No conclusion was reached about the item. 

7. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee 
Carl reported that there had been discussion on marketing the sections, in which several ideas were 
considered, including an idea of organising a focus group. Carl explained that organising a focus group is his 
idea and in which people feedback on sections. He invited comments from Mr. Juan Laverde, a staff member 
of the IAA secretariat, who had joined the meeting on the phone. 

Juan explained that the basic idea had been identifying accurately the areas needed to be improved for 
members and for non-members. Juan continued that they wanted to outline a draft whole market plan 
before the Cape Town Colloquium. Carl asked Juan whether they had any concrete plan of holding webinars 
or seminars aiming for the Cape Town Colloquium and Juan answered that that the next opportunity to 
conduct a focus group to get person to person feedback would be in the Cape Town Colloquium.  

Abe said that it was a shame that only a few percentages of actuaries had joined the sections. He continued 
that in many cases that was because they had not even aware of the sections. Abe added that we should do 
something about the market plan. Carl agreed and said that there were several categories such as the 
logistical issue of paying the membership dues and the visibility of the sections. Carl continued that at the 
colloquia and the ICA it might be considered to let the ideas of sections be better known and to prepare a 
presentation of talking a little bit more in depth about the sections. Carl added that the leaderships of FMAs 
might be aware of the sections, but they had not done good job about letting their members known the 
sections. Abe agreed and said that we needed to invest money on marketing and getting new members. 
Abe raised the idea of sections’ ambassador in each FMA like in Australia and putting a video on the sections 



6 
 

or speaking about the sections at the occasion of annual general meeting of FMAs. Carl recalled that as some 
sessions of the ICA Berlin some moderators had talked about the sections. 
Alejandro raised the example of using social media at the Geneva meeting. Abe said that we should work 
on that.  

8. Work plan 2019 and after 
8.1. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Cape Town in 2019  

Abe explained that Carl was taking the lead and the registration was open, papers had been selected and 
there would be six slots for PBSS related papers. He continued that at some point he might ask somebody 
going to Cape Town to help moderating some sessions. Alejandro asked the number of registrations to that 
date, but it was in very early stage and nobody knew the number.  

8.2. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Paris in 2020 
Abe said that Doug was already a liaison of IACA, and Mr. Kenneth George Buffin and Mr. Rodrigo Ibarra-
Jarrin wanted to get involved in. Abe asked them to volunteer to act as a liaison to the scientific committee 
of the Colloquium in Paris.  

8.3. Organise a joint colloquium with ISSA on 2021 
Abe asked Mr. Christopher Daykin whether he had heard anything about the ISSA meeting. Chris answered 
negatively and Barbara said that she had been told that ISSA would be going to organize a meeting in 2021 
but it would be just the beginning. She said that they would keep things open with Ms. Assia Billig and Mr. 
Jan Claude Ménard. Alejandro said that ISSA would be selecting new Secretary General in December 7 and 
the site of the 2021 ISSA meeting would be selected afterwards.  

8.4. Planning for 2022 ICA in Sydney 
Abe said that there would be somebody from Australia at the Section Chairs’ meeting and added that Mr. 
Brnic Van Wyk wanted to volunteer to serve as a liaison to the organiser of the 2022 ICA in Sydney.  

8.5. Hold 6 webinars per calendar year 
Abe said that he had been charged with moderating the webinars since Mr. Marius du Tois had left the PBSS 
Board and Ms. Alejandra Moreno Carrales had been taken care of everything. Abe asked that any of the 
members of the PBSS Board to take the task of moderating the webinars and giving Alejandra the ideas on 
which webinars to be organised. Nobody raised his/her hand and Abe said that he would select somebody 
afterwards.  

8.6. Maintain Reference List on the web, at least 6 new posts per year 
Abe said that Mr. Krzysztof Ostaszewski had been working with Alejandra and we were receiving the 
Reference List. Abe asked everybody to give any suggestions on the Reference List. Krzysztof said that 
Alejandra had been doing a fantastic job.  

8.7. Maintain Virtual Library 
Abe said that one of the items to be paid consideration in the Sections Task Force was to have permanent 
intellectual contents. Abe added that they would discuss the issue tomorrow. 

8.8. Give bursaries to next year's colloquia speakers 
Abe said that we had already sent the authors of the presentations to be made in the Cape Town 
Colloquium an E-mail informing that we had bursaries that would cover registration fees and some of the 
travel expenses. Abe questioned the deadline of application for bursaries and said that immediately after 
the deadline he would send all of the Board members asking who would be the candidates of the bursaries. 
Abe added that in the case of the Cape Town Colloquium we would have up to three bursaries, since we 
had allocated a budget of CAD 5,000.  



7 
 

8.9. Select next year's colloquia Best Prize(s) 
Abe said that we had allocated CAD 2,000 for the best paper prizes and that would allow us to select up to 
two papers, one with the scientific perspective and another with the practitioner’s perspective. Abe added 
that the abstracts had been selected already but papers had been not yet, and we could not start the 
process of selecting the best papers. Then, Abe asked Krzysztof to take the lead of the task, but Krzysztof 
answered that he was not available. Carl said that he would ask the organiser of the Cape Town Colloquium 
to give more details on the schedule.  

8.10. Support the publication of the ASTIN bulletin and encourage members to contribute papers 
Abe said that there had been very few pensions-related papers on the ASTIN Bulletin. Abe continued that 
although there were two or three papers, none of them were by PBSS members. Abe said that we should 
encourage the authors of the papers to become a member of the PBSS Section. Abe added that he had 
written them a letter to encourage joining the PBSS Section, but that attempt had not worked well until 
that time. Abe said that he was considering of advertising the prize on the ASTIN Bulletin.  

Abe said that in 2018 we had two pensions-related papers published on the ASTIN Bulletin and he would 
send the two papers to every Board members to reach a consensus to which paper we should give the prize.  

Abe said that we had to assign somebody to the management board of ASTIN. He added that the board did 
not take any editorial decision. He said that we had sent Marius to the board, but Marius had left the PBSS 
Board and we had to send somebody else. Abe continued that he had asked Krzysztof, but Krzysztof had 
answered that he was able to do the task, and Abe said that he wanted to recruit a volunteer among the 
members of the PBSS Board.   

8.11. Maintain relation with several supranational organisations 
Chris said that IPEBLA would do some cooperation with the organiser of the Cape Town Colloquium. As for 
the World Pensions Summit, Abe said that he offered it a free entrance to the Paris Colloquium in exchange 
of their offering reduced entrance fees to the PBSS members.   

8.12. Communication and expanding membership 
This item was paid consideration already.   

8.13. PBSS website  
Abe said that at some point we needed to go into the website and find what we should do. Abe added that 
ASTIN was doing something on their website and suggested to go to the ASTIN for our reference.   

8.14. Publish PBSS bi-annually newsletters 
Abe said that last one had been sent in May and the next one would be sent probably in December.   

8.15. PBSS presentation on Social Security Reform 
Abe said that he had sent to the Board members a presentation he was preparing for the Cape Town 
Colloquium. He added that it did not represent the position of the PBSS Section on any of the ideas or 
reforms. He continued that the aim of the paper was just showing the options being able to be taken in the 
pension reforms from all over the world. Alejandro said that the ILO had published a world pension report 
electronically and that would be value added. Abe introduced the presentation briefly and asked to send 
feedbacks afterwards. 

8.16. Section Ambassadors to FMAs 
This item has been paid consideration already. Abe emphasised that we needed to budget properly for 
marketing the sections.   



8 
 

9. Finance Report 
Doug reported that figures had not been available yet of the finance report of 2018. 

10. Membership and constitution 
Abe said that we would have an election of board members in Cape Town and he would discuss that through 
e-mails. Abe added that some clarifications of the BBSS Section Rules were needed, specifically on possible 
re-elections, which were common changes among all sections. Abe added that it was already on the agenda 
of the Council and the Council would propose the changes on Saturday.  

11. Section’s succession mechanism discussion 
Abe said that he had gathered what other sections were doing about the succession mechanism. He added 
that nobody was clear on the issue. He said he would send the Board members an E-mail on what other 
sections were doing.  

12.Any other Business 
Abe said that the next day section chairs would have a discussion with the EC and the IAA secretariat. Abe 
explained largely as follows: 

The intention of the EC was that every IAA branded event should contribute to the IAA budget, including 
colloquia. Then, sections insisted that they were taking the financial risk. The discussion is on-going, and 
we have not reached anything. I suggested why IAA does not have local sponsors. In the meantime, the 
secretariat sent a mail to the organiser of the Cape Town Colloquium and required that the Colloquium 
will give back some money, if it has surplus. However, usually local associations take the financial risks and 
voluntarily offered part of the surplus to the sections. The intention of the EC is that surplus will go back 
to the IAA and it is no more on the voluntary basis but on a contractual basis. We sections were surprised 
with that.  

Ken recalled the case of the Hong Kong Colloquium and said that there had been a immense dispute how to 
allocate the risk and the surplus. Abe pointed out that the problem was that there was a protocol of 
organising a colloquium and in that protocol, it was very clear that the FMA is taking the risk and if surplus 
exists then it belongs to the FMA, so what the EC was saying also contradicted the protocol. Abe continued 
that so we were saying that first we needed to go to the protocol and see what we had agreed and then 
change the protocol and go to the contract. Ken said that the whole profit of the colloquium in 2002 had 
been from the sponsors and not from the fees paid by the members of the participated sections. Ken added 
that the board members of IACA had said that since IACA had taken the risks that it should have been 
entitled to 100% of the profit, but they had distributed some of the profit to other participated sections, 
including the PBSS Section. Then, Ken advised that it was very clear about the basis for any allocation of the 
surplus. Abe pointed out that in the case of Cape Town Colloquium and in the case of Paris Colloquium which 
were not only a joint colloquium of sections, but also joint colloquium of sections and local FMAs and they 
did not have separate accounting. Abe continues that we needed to agree on something and added that 
then we were able to change the protocol.  

13. Next meeting 
Abe said that the next Board meeting is in Cape Town.   

14.  Close 
There being no further business, the Chair closed the meeting, and thanked all for their attendance. 

Abraham Hernández Pacheco  
Chair, PBSS 
November 29, 2018  



9 
 

Attendance Register 
Meeting of the PBSS Section Committee 

Thursday, 29 November 2018 
Mexico City, Mexico 

 
 

 Name Country Atten-
dance 

Date 
appointed 

Date re-
elected 

End of 
term 

Honorary 
Chair Christopher Daykin UK Yes 3/2014  – 

Chair Abraham Hernández 
Pacheco Mexico Yes 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 

2019 

Deputy 
Chair Carl Hansen Guernsey Yes 3/2013 (AGM in 

2017) 
AGM in 

2021 

Secretary Nobuhiro Shimizu Japan Yes 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 
2019 

Treasurer Douglas Carey USA On the 
phone 5/2012 6/2016 AGM in 

2020 

 Allan Paldanius Finland On the 
phone 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Brnic Van Wyk Australia On the 
phone 6/2018  AGM in 

2022 

 Florian Léger France No 9/2011 6/2015 AGM in 
2019 

 Ignacio del Barco Spain No 6/2016  AGM in 
2020 

 Kenneth George 
Buffin USA Yes 6/2018  

AGM in 
2022 

 Krzysztof 
Ostaszewski USA On the 

phone 6/2016  AGM in 
2020 

 Paulo Josef Gouvêa 
da Gama Brazil No 6/2016  AGM in 

2020 

 Rodrigo Ibarra-
Jarrin Equador Yes 6/2018  AGM in 

2022 

IAA 
delegate 

Barbara D'Ambrogi-
Ola Finland Yes - - - 

IAA 
delegate Yasuyuki Fujii Japan Yes - - - 

 
 


	1. Welcome and Apologies
	2. Agenda
	3. Report from the organiser of the 2020 Colloquium to be held in Paris
	4. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held in Berlin
	5. Confirmation of the minutes of the last AGM held in Berlin
	6. IAA restructuring and approach with Health Section & PEBC
	6.1 IAA restructuring
	6.2 Approach with Health Section

	7. Section Task Force and Joint Communication Committee
	8. Work plan 2019 and after
	8.1. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Cape Town in 2019
	8.2. Hold a successful joint colloquium in Paris in 2020
	8.3. Organise a joint colloquium with ISSA on 2021
	8.4. Planning for 2022 ICA in Sydney
	8.5. Hold 6 webinars per calendar year
	8.6. Maintain Reference List on the web, at least 6 new posts per year
	8.7. Maintain Virtual Library
	8.8. Give bursaries to next year's colloquia speakers
	8.9. Select next year's colloquia Best Prize(s)
	8.10. Support the publication of the ASTIN bulletin and encourage members to contribute papers
	8.11. Maintain relation with several supranational organisations
	8.12. Communication and expanding membership
	8.13. PBSS website
	8.14. Publish PBSS bi-annually newsletters
	8.15. PBSS presentation on Social Security Reform
	8.16. Section Ambassadors to FMAs

	9. Finance Report
	10.  Membership and constitution
	11.  Section’s succession mechanism discussion
	12. Any other Business
	13.  Next meeting
	14.   Close
	Attendance Register

